Published for SISSA by 🖄 Springer

RECEIVED: February 18, 2022 ACCEPTED: March 25, 2022 PUBLISHED: April 12, 2022

Supertranslation-invariant dressed Lorentz charges

Reza Javadinezhad,^a Uri Kol^b and Massimo Porrati^a

- ^a Center for Cosmology and Particle Physics, Department of Physics, New York University, 726 Broadway, New York, NY 10003, U.S.A.
- ^bNYU Tel Aviv Academic Center, New York University, 17 Brandeis, Tel Aviv 69001, Israel

E-mail: rj1154@nyu.edu, urikol@gmail.com, massimo.porrati@nyu.edu

ABSTRACT: We present an explicit formula for Lorentz boosts and rotations that commute with BMS supertranslations in asymptotically flat spacetimes. Key to the construction is the use of infrared regularizations and of a unitary transformation that makes observables commute with the soft degrees of freedom. We explicitly verify that our charges satisfy the Lorentz algebra and we check that they are consistent with expectations by evaluating them on the supertranslated Minkowski space and on the boosted Kerr black hole.

KEYWORDS: Classical Theories of Gravity, Space-Time Symmetries, Gauge Symmetry, Global Symmetries

ARXIV EPRINT: 2202.03442



Contents

1	Inti	roduction	1
2	Regulated commutators and BMS-invariant Lorentz charges		3
	2.1	Asymptotically flat spacetimes	4
	2.2	Conserved charges	5
	2.3	Charges at past null infinity	5
	2.4	Matching conditions at spatial infinity	6
	2.5	Regulated commutators	7
	2.6	Boundary conditions	8
3	Lorentz algebra		8
	3.1	Regulating the charge in the frequency domain	12
	3.2	Poincaré algebra	13
4	Evaluation of the charge on some known configurations		14
	4.1	Invariance of the charge under the addition of soft radiation	14
	4.2	Boosted Kerr solution	14
5	5 Comparison with known prescriptions		15
6	6 Discussion		16

Introduction 1

The algebra of symmetries of asymptotically flat four-dimensional spacetime is the infinitedimensional Bondi-Sachs-Metzner (BMS) algebra [1, 2], which consists of Lorentz transformations and translations that depend on the positions on the celestial sphere called supertranslations. This algebra can be further enlarged by including charges that do not generate proper asymptotic symmetries (superrotations) [3] as well as other charges that we shall not consider further in this paper. Supertranslations depend on the two angular coordinates on the celestial sphere so they can be expanded in spherical harmonics, which are labeled by the standard quantum numbers $l = 0, 1, 2, \ldots$ and $-l \leq m \leq l$. The four generators l = 0, m = 0 and l = 1, m = -1, 0, +1 are the usual spacetime translations that together with Lorentz transformations make up the Poincaré algebra. Neither the l = 0, 1nor the l > 1 supertranslations commute with the Lorentz charges. The conserved l > 1charges furthermore split into the sum of "hard" and "soft" charges, $Q^{l,m} = Q^{l,m}_{hard} + Q^{l,m}_{soft}$, which are not separately conserved. For l = 0, 1 the soft charges vanish identically and for l > 1 they commute with all radiative variables, that is with all asymptotic dynamical modes of the metric and matter with finite wavelength. So, they are either constants on irreducible representations of the algebra of radiative degrees of freedom or else that algebra needs to be enlarged [4]. We will call the additional degrees of freedom necessary to make the soft charge dynamical "boundary gravitons" [5]. These infinite-wavelength modes can be represented by a real coordinate C^{lm} for each l > 1, $m = -l, -l + 1, \ldots, l$. Boundary gravitons and soft charges are sometimes collectively called "soft hair."

The canonically-conjugate pairs made of soft charges and boundary gravitons enlarge the phase space of physical degrees of freedom of gravity in asymptotically flat spacetime in a seemingly paradoxical way, because they imply that states with zero energy and momentum are infinitely degenerate and carry arbitrary angular momentum. Let us briefly review how to prove these properties, following [6]. Supertranslations commute among themselves so they commute with spacetime translations. Therefore, after quantization vacuum states (i.e. zero energy states) are degenerate and are L^2 function $\Psi(C)$ of the boundary gravitons $C \equiv \{C_{lm}\}_{l>1}$. Boundary gravitons and supertranslations do not commute for l > 1, so an l > 1 supertranslation generically transforms a vacuum, say an L^2 approximate eigenstate of C_{lm} , into a different vacuum state. Lorentz transformations do not commute with supertranslations so we find that the definition of the Lorentz charges and in particular of the angular momentum \vec{J} is ambiguous. This can be seen by considering a vacuum with zero angular momentum, Ψ_0 . By definition $\vec{J}\Psi_0 = 0$, but since $[\vec{J}, Q^{lm}] \neq 0$ for l > 1, we have also other vacuum states, e.g. $\Psi = (1 + \sum_{lm} f_{lm} Q^{lm}) \Psi_0, \sum_{lm} |f_{lm}|^2 < \infty$. Each one of them is also a vacuum but on them, generically, $\vec{J}(1 + \sum_{lm} f_{lm}Q^{lm})\Psi_0 =$ $\sum_{lm} f_{lm}[\vec{J}, Q^{lm}] \Psi_0 \neq 0$. So, even the apparently innocent question: "what is the angular momentum of the vacuum in asymptotically flat spacetimes?" has no unique answer. The argument given here uses commutators and Hilbert space states, but it is already present at the classical level, as shown e.g. in [7].

An obvious yet important question is whether a definition of Lorentz charges exists that commutes with l > 1 supertranslations. The answer is yes, as shown by a construction given in [8]. The existence of an automorphisms of the algebra of observables that act as Lorentz transformations on the radiative degrees of freedom and leave supertranslations and boundary gravitons invariant was proven in [8]. The argument given there starts by imposing the desired action of Lorentz transformations \tilde{Q}_{ξ} , parametrized by the vector ξ . It is summarized by the following equations

$$\begin{split} [\tilde{Q}_{\xi}, N_{AB}^{+}] &= i\mathcal{L}_{\xi} N_{AB}^{+}, \\ [\tilde{Q}_{\xi}, C[g]] &= 0, \\ [\tilde{Q}_{\xi}, Q[f]] &= 0. \end{split}$$
(1.1)

Here $Q[f] \equiv \sum_{l>1,-l\leq m\leq l} f_{lm}Q^{lm}$, $C[g] \equiv \sum_{l>1,-l\leq m\leq l} g_{lm}C^{lm}$, \mathcal{L}_{ξ} is the Lie derivative along the vector ξ and the N_{AB}^+ are the radiative degrees of freedom (a.k.a. Bondi News) that will be defined in section 2. The "improved Lorentz" defined in (1.1) commutes with supertranslations by construction. To verify that definition (1.1) is consistent one must also check that the Jacobi identity is satisfied. This was done in [8]. A charge is an operator acting on a Hilbert space, so the construction reviewed above, which proves the existence of an automorphism of the algebra of observables, shows that a charge may exist, but it does not prove that it does. Moreover, an explicit form of a conserved charge is indispensable to check that its value on known backgrounds (Minkowski space, Schwarschild, Kerr, etc.) does indeed give what we usually call e.g. angular momentum. Finally, the formula given in (1.1) obscures the fact that the construction of the new Lorentz charge is a classical one. Quantum mechanics is, in this case, just a convenient language. In fact, explicit formulas for angular momentum that have vanishing Poisson brackets (or "commute" in short and without ambiguity) with l > 1 supertranslation and boundary gravitons do exist. Using the dressing procedure described in eq. (1.1) an explicit formula for an angular momentum charge that commutes with supertranslations was presented in [6]. It is written as an integral on the future null infinity of Minkowski space, \mathcal{I}^+ . The formula can be written also as an integral over the past boundary of \mathcal{I}^+ , where it coincides with a formula previously found in [9] and also in [10–12] using methods introduced in [7, 13, 14].

Aim of this paper is to find an explicit, BMS-invariant formula for all Lorentz charges: rotations and boost. We will begin in section 2 by recalling the definition of asymptotically flat spacetime in the Bondi gauge and introduce shear, Bondi news, boundary gravitons and other quantities and notations used throughout the paper. Section 2 will also introduce a regularization of Poisson bracket and charges that corresponds to truncating future null infinity at finite values of the retarded time and is essential for writing well defined expressions for the BMS and Lorentz charges in terms of three-dimensional integrals over future null infinity. The 3D form of the charges is necessary to find their Poisson brackets with canonical variables. The regularization introduced in section 2 is similar to the definition of observable BMS charges given in ref. [16]. Finally, section 2 describes the proper boundary conditions on the asymptotic degrees of freedom. The regularization of section 2 is used in section 3 to define BMS-invariant Lorentz charges and check that they indeed act as Lorentz transformation on the radiative degrees of freedom (that is the Bondi news and the matter degrees of freedom) and satisfy the Lorentz algebra as well. Section 3 also introduces a new regularization procedure in the frequency domain, which corresponds more clearly to the standard infrared cutoff procedure used in the particle physics treatment of infrared singularities. Section 4 evaluates Lorentz charges on known general-relativistic configurations. To perform the computation we rewrite the charges, which are appropriately regulated integrals of 3D densities on the whole future null infinity, in terms of 2D densities integrated on the celestial sphere at the past boundary of \mathcal{I}^+ . The 2D formula for angular momentum coincides with those of refs. [9, 11, 12] and the 2D formula for the center of mass (boost) reduces to that of [10, 12] when the Bondi news vanishes. Section 5 contains a comparison of the different proposals for Lorentz charges, and particularly angular momentum, that have been proposed in the literature. A few concluding observations are collected in section 6.

2 Regulated commutators and BMS-invariant Lorentz charges

In this section we construct regularized Lorentz charges. They are built in terms of the fields that appear in the metric. The Bondi news, defined in eq. (2.5), is the only independent

radiative degree of freedom and the shear, mass aspect and angular momentum aspect at each point on \mathcal{I}^+ can all be written in terms of the Bondi news tensor once their boundary values at \mathcal{I}^+_- are specified. When written as an integral over the future null infinity, Lorentz charges only contain the Bondi news tensor. This is a better starting point for the construction of the invariant charges because it does not involve soft degrees of freedom. However, the 2D form of Lorentz charges, which is as an integral over the celestial sphere and contains the angular momentum aspect and the Bondi mass aspect is more convenient for evaluating the charge on a given configuration. Now, let us we briefly review here our definitions and conventions.

2.1 Asymptotically flat spacetimes

The metric of an asymptotically flat spacetime in the Bondi gauge is

$$ds^{2} = \frac{V}{r}e^{2\beta}du^{2} - 2e^{2\beta}dudr + g_{AB}(dx^{A} - U^{A}du)(dx^{B} - U^{B}du), \qquad (2.1)$$

where the Bondi gauge condition is given by

$$\partial_r \left(\frac{\det(g_{AB})}{r^4} \right) = 0 \tag{2.2}$$

and the falloff conditions that ensure asymptotic flatness are

$$\frac{V}{r} = \tilde{V} + \frac{2M}{r} + \mathcal{O}(r^{-2}),$$

$$\beta = \frac{\tilde{\beta}}{r^2} + \mathcal{O}(r^{-1}),$$

$$g_{AB} = r^2 q_{AB} + rC_{AB}^+ + \mathcal{O}(r^0),$$

$$U^A = \frac{\tilde{U}^A}{r^2} - \frac{2}{3r^3} \left[N^A - \frac{1}{2}C^{+AB}D^C C_{BC}^+ \right] + \mathcal{O}(r^{-4}).$$
(2.3)

(we are using the same conventions as ref. [9]). Here q_{AB} is the metric of the S^2 at null infinity and D_A is the covariant derivative compatible with q_{AB} . $M(u, x^a)$ and $N_A(u, x^A)$ are the Bondi mass aspect and the angular momentum aspect. These fields are not dynamical degrees of freedom because they are related to the shear tensor $C^+_{AB}(u, x^a)$ via the constraint equations

$$\partial_{u}M = -\frac{1}{8}N_{AB}^{+}N^{+AB} + \frac{1}{4}D_{A}D_{B}N^{+AB} + \frac{1}{8}D_{A}D^{A}\tilde{R},$$

$$\partial_{u}N_{A} = D_{A}M + \frac{1}{16}D_{A}(N_{BC}^{+}C^{+BC}) - \frac{1}{4}N^{+BC}D_{A}C_{BC}^{+} - \frac{1}{4}D_{B}D^{B}D^{C}C_{AC}^{+} + \frac{1}{4}D_{B}D_{A}D_{C}C^{+BC} - \frac{1}{4}D_{B}(C^{+BC}N_{AC}^{+} - N^{+BC}C_{AC}^{+}) + \frac{1}{4}C_{AB}^{+}D^{B}\tilde{R},$$
(2.4)

where \tilde{R} is the scalar curvature of S^2 . The Bondi news is defined as the retarded-time derivative of the shear tensor

$$N_{AB}^{+} = \partial_u C_{AB}^{+}, \qquad (2.5)$$

and it characterizes gravitational radiation. The soft degrees of freedom $C(x^A)$ define the boundary value of the shear as follows

$$\lim_{u \to -\infty} C^+_{AB}(u, x^A) = -2D_A D_B C(x^A) + q_{AB} D^2 C(x^A).$$
(2.6)

2.2 Conserved charges

The algebra of asymptotic charges, known as the Bondi-Metzner-Sachs (BMS) algebra, is composed of Lorentz transformations and supertranslations. The generators of BMS supertranslations and Lorentz transformations on \mathcal{I}^+ are given by

$$T(f) = \frac{1}{4\pi G} \int_{\mathcal{I}_{-}^{+}} d^{2}x \sqrt{q} f(x^{A}) M,$$

$$Q(Y) = \frac{1}{8\pi G} \int_{\mathcal{I}_{-}^{+}} d^{2}x \sqrt{q} Y^{A}(x^{A}) N_{A},$$
(2.7)

respectively. Here $Y^A(x^A)$ are the six global conformal Killing vectors on S^2 , which can be decomposed as follows

$$Y^A = \epsilon^{AB} \partial_B \Phi + q^{AB} \partial_B \Psi. \tag{2.8}$$

 $\Phi(x^A)$ describe rotations while $\Psi(x^A)$ describe boosts. The Lorentz charge is therefore a sum of two terms

$$Q(Y) = \mathcal{K}(\Psi) + \mathcal{J}(\Phi), \qquad (2.9)$$

where

$$\mathcal{K}(\Psi) = \frac{1}{8\pi G} \int_{\mathcal{I}_{-}^{+}} d^2 x \sqrt{q} \, q^{AB} \, N_A \partial_B \Psi,$$

$$\mathcal{J}(\Phi) = \frac{1}{8\pi G} \int_{\mathcal{I}_{-}^{+}} d^2 x \sqrt{q} \, \epsilon^{AB} \, N_A \partial_B \Phi.$$
 (2.10)

The action of the Lorentz generator on the Bondi news is

$$\{Q(Y), N_{AB}^{+}\} = \frac{u}{2} (D \cdot Y) \partial_u N_{AB}^{+} + \mathcal{L}_Y N_{AB}^{+} - \left(D_A D_B - \frac{1}{2} q_{AB} \Delta\right) D \cdot Y, \qquad (2.11)$$

where \mathcal{L}_Y is the Lie derivative along Y and Δ is the Laplacian on S^2 . In addition, the Lorentz generator acts on the soft variable as

$$\{Q(Y), C\} = -u (D \cdot Y).$$
(2.12)

Finally, as we noticed in the introduction, the Lorentz transformations do not commute with supertranslations

$$\{Q(Y), T(f)\} \neq 0.$$
 (2.13)

2.3 Charges at past null infinity

The expansion of the metric around past null infinity \mathcal{I}^- takes a form similar to (2.1)–(2.3)

$$ds^{2} = \frac{V^{-}}{r}e^{2\beta^{-}}du^{2} + 2e^{2\beta^{-}}dvdr + g_{AB}^{-}(dx^{A} + V^{A}du)(dx^{B} + V^{B}du), \qquad (2.14)$$

with the following falloff conditions on the different metric components

$$\frac{V^{-}}{r} = \tilde{V}^{-} + \frac{2M^{-}}{r} + \mathcal{O}(r^{-2}),$$

$$\beta^{-} = \frac{\tilde{\beta}^{-}}{r^{2}} + \mathcal{O}(r^{-1}),$$

$$g_{AB}^{-} = r^{2}q_{AB} + rC_{AB}^{-} + \mathcal{O}(r^{0}),$$

$$V^{A} = \frac{\tilde{V}^{-A}}{r^{2}} - \frac{2}{3r^{3}} \left[N^{-A} - \frac{1}{2}C^{-AB}D^{C}C_{BC}^{-} \right] + \mathcal{O}(r^{-4}),$$
(2.15)

where v is the advanced null coordinate. The Bondi news is

$$N_{AB}^{-} = \partial_v C_{AB}^{-}, \qquad (2.16)$$

The soft degrees of freedom on \mathcal{I}^- define the boundary value of the shear by

$$\lim_{v \to +\infty} C^{-}_{AB}(v, x^{A}) = -2D_{A}D_{B}C^{-}(x^{A}) + q_{AB}D^{2}C^{-}(x^{A}).$$
(2.17)

The supertranslation and Lorentz charges are given by

$$T^{-}(f^{-}) = \frac{1}{4\pi G} \int_{\mathcal{I}_{+}^{+}} d^{2}x \sqrt{q} f^{-}(x^{A}) M^{-},$$

$$Q^{-}(Y^{-}) = \frac{1}{8\pi G} \int_{\mathcal{I}_{+}^{-}} d^{2}x \sqrt{q} Y^{-A} N_{A}^{-}.$$
(2.18)

Here again the Lorentz transformation parameter can be decomposed as

$$Y^{-A} = \epsilon^{AB} \partial_B \Phi^- + q^{AB} \partial_B \Psi^-.$$
(2.19)

Therefore, once again, the charge can be written in the form

$$Q^{-}(Y^{-}) = \mathcal{K}^{-}(\Psi^{-}) + \mathcal{J}^{-}(\Phi^{-}), \qquad (2.20)$$

where

$$\mathcal{K}^{-}(\Psi^{-}) = \frac{1}{8\pi G} \int_{\mathcal{I}_{-}^{+}} d^{2}x \sqrt{q} q^{AB} N_{A}^{-} \partial_{B} \Psi^{-},$$

$$\mathcal{J}^{-}(\Phi^{-}) = \frac{1}{8\pi G} \int_{\mathcal{I}_{-}^{+}} d^{2}x \sqrt{q} \epsilon^{AB} N_{A}^{-} \partial_{B} \Phi^{-}.$$
 (2.21)

2.4 Matching conditions at spatial infinity

The coordinates on the two sphere are antipodally matched between future and past null infinity. The matching conditions proposed in ref. [15] are

$$C(x^{A})\Big|_{\mathcal{I}^{+}_{-}} = C^{-}(x^{A})\Big|_{\mathcal{I}^{+}_{+}},$$

$$M(x^{A})\Big|_{\mathcal{I}^{+}_{-}} = M^{-}(x^{A})\Big|_{\mathcal{I}^{-}_{+}},$$

$$N_{A}(x^{A})\Big|_{\mathcal{I}^{+}_{-}} = N^{-}_{A}(x^{A})\Big|_{\mathcal{I}^{+}_{+}}.$$
(2.22)

This conditions break the combined $\rm BMS^+\times BMS^-$ group down to the diagonal subgroup that preserves these conditions

$$f(x^A)\Big|_{\mathcal{I}^+_-} = f^-(x^A)\Big|_{\mathcal{I}^-_+}.$$
 (2.23)

In addition in order to preserve the conditions (2.22) the Lorentz transformation parameters should be matched as follows

$$\begin{split} \Psi(x^{A})\Big|_{\mathcal{I}^{+}_{-}} &= +\Psi^{-}(x^{A})\Big|_{\mathcal{I}^{+}_{+}}, \\ \Phi(x^{A})\Big|_{\mathcal{I}^{+}_{-}} &= -\Phi^{-}(x^{A})\Big|_{\mathcal{I}^{+}_{+}}. \end{split}$$
(2.24)

With these matching conditions boost and rotation charges are conserved

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{K}(\Psi)\Big|_{\mathcal{I}^{+}_{-}} &= +\mathcal{K}^{-}(\Psi^{-})\Big|_{\mathcal{I}^{-}_{+}}, \\ \mathcal{J}(\Phi)\Big|_{\mathcal{I}^{+}_{-}} &= +\mathcal{J}^{-}(\Phi^{-})\Big|_{\mathcal{I}^{-}_{+}}. \end{split}$$
(2.25)

We see that the two transformation parameters Ψ and Φ have different parity properties under the antipodal map - Ψ is even while Φ is odd. These results suggest that the two transformation parameters are independent and that therefore \mathcal{K} and \mathcal{J} are conserved independently.

Notice that the matching conditions (2.24) also ensure the conservation of super-boosts and super-rotations.

2.5 Regulated commutators

As emphasized e.g. in [16] memories defined on the whole retarded-time interval that spans future null infinity are unrelated to physical finite-time memories, because the two can be made to differ from each other by an arbitrary amount by paying an arbitrarily small cost in energy. A similar issue is present for Lorentz charges and in fact even to properly define them we should first regulate them. For instance we can define them on a finite interval $u \in [u_{\min}, u_{\max}]$ and then take the limit $u_{\min} \to -\infty, u_{\max} \to +\infty$. Besides being necessary to define the charges, finite-interval charges are also a good approximation of their limit for many physical configurations. So we introduce a regulating function f(u) such that f(u) = 1 for |u| < R and f(u) = 0 for $|u| > R + \delta$, where R defines the IR cut-off of the system and δ is the width of the function f'(u). Throughout this paper we will keep R finite, particularly for the calculation of the commutators and only in the end we will take the limit $R \to \infty$. As we will see this limit is a subtle one because some of the integrals of the form $\int_R^{\infty} \ldots$ stay finite even in the limit.

We define first a regulated Bondi news tensor N_{AB}

$$N_{AB} = f(u)N_{AB}^{+}, (2.26)$$

and consequently from the definition of the shear tensor it follows that

$$C^{AB}(u) = \int_{-\infty}^{u} dv N^{AB}(v).$$
 (2.27)

By construction $C^{AB}(-\infty) = 0$ and hence the regulated shear tensor differs from other definitions, which are generically non-zero at \mathcal{I}^+_- . Later we will remove this restriction and see how this would changes the equations but we are going to keep it for now. The modification of the shear tensor will also modify its commutator with the original news tensor

$$[C_{AB}(u), N_{CD}^{+}(u')] = \int_{-\infty}^{u} dv f(v) [N_{AB}^{+}(v), N_{CD}^{+}(u')]$$

= $16\pi G P_{ABCD} \frac{\delta^{2}(\Omega - \Omega')}{\sqrt{q}} [f(u)\delta(u - u') - f'(u')\Theta(u - u')].$ (2.28)

 P_{ABCD} depends only on the metric q_{AB} on S^2 and its explicit form is

$$P_{CD}^{AB} = \frac{1}{2} (\delta_C^A \delta_D^B + \delta_C^A \delta_D^B - q^{AB} q_{CD}).$$
(2.29)

Now take the limit that $|u| \gg R$ and keep u' < u; this is the commutator between what we call "memory" and the news tensor. Since this commutator is not zero for $|u'| \in [R, R + \delta]$, the memory (which is not the soft charge anymore because of the appearance of the regulating function in the integral of the news tensor) clearly differs from the soft charge, whose commutator with the shear tensor is zero,

$$[C_{AB}(u), Q_{\text{soft}}] \propto D^C D^D [C_{AB}(u), \int du' N^+_{CD}(u')] = 0.$$
(2.30)

Later on we will define the charge and we will look at the charge algebra, the charge will be defined in terms of the shear tensor and the modified news tensor, which from now on we simply call "the news tensor." The commutator of shear tensors is

$$[C_{AB}(u), C_{IJ}(u')] = 16\pi G \frac{\delta^2(\Omega - \Omega')}{\sqrt{q}} P_{CD}^{AB} \left[\frac{1}{2}f^2(u)\theta(u' - u) - \frac{1}{2}f^2(u')\theta(u - u')\right]. \quad (2.31)$$

This is important not only because it appears in many places, but also on physical grounds, because it decays near the boundaries as it is required if we want to write a charge that commutes with the soft charge.

2.6 Boundary conditions

Boundary conditions are crucial for the definition of the charge. Here we will consider configurations with no radiations at large retarded times. This condition simply tells us that near \mathcal{I}^+_+ spacetime reverts back to the vacuum, that is to Minkowski space. We also only consider configurations with finite charge. Falloff conditions on different components of the (unregulated) news tensor that satisfy the previous requirements are

$$N_{AB}^+(u)|_{u\gg 1} = \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{u^{1+\beta}}\right), \quad \beta > 0.$$

$$(2.32)$$

The phase space for the gravitational system can be built on \mathcal{I}^+ or \mathcal{I}^- . On \mathcal{I}^+ the charges are defined on the celestial sphere at \mathcal{I}^+_- but also they can be equivalently expressed as a 3D integral over the whole \mathcal{I}^+ . This will be specially useful if we want to work with canonical variables such as N_{AB} instead of auxiliary fields such as N_A or m. However the explicit evaluation of the charge or its conservation are more conveniently studied using the 2D form of the integrals. For instance, in section 2.4 we used the 2D definition of the charge to find the matching conditions necessary to ensure their conservation.

3 Lorentz algebra

The Lorentz charges are conserved and their Poisson brackets with phase space variables realize the Lorentz algebra. A priori there are no more constraints, but the question we want to study is if we can find a representation of the Lorentz charges that commutes with the soft fields, namely the boundary graviton and the soft charge. The way that we construct the charge is by going through the following steps,

- Use the regulating function to eliminate any factors of Q_{soft} .
- Eliminate the dependence on the boundary graviton by subtracting all the terms that explicitly depend on this field.
- Verify that the charge so defined does indeed satisfy the Lorentz algebra.

The charge that we propose is a bulk integral¹

$$Q_Y = \frac{1}{32\pi G} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} du \left(\frac{u}{2} D \cdot Y N^2 + Y^A N^{BC} D_A C_{BC} + (D^A Y_B - D_B Y^A) C^{BC} N_{AC} \right).$$
(3.1)

This charge enjoys already the first two properties, so it remains to check if the algebra of these charges is the Lorentz algebra. To do so we first need to know the commutator of the charge with other fields. The charge can be rewritten as

$$Q_Y = -\frac{D \cdot Y}{64\pi G} \check{C}_{AB} \check{C}^{AB} + \frac{1}{32\pi G} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} du \left(D \cdot Y \frac{u}{2} N^2 + N^{BC} \mathcal{L}_Y C_{BC} \right).$$
(3.2)

The last expression is used to compute the transformation rule for the fields with the help of (2.31)

$$[Q_Y, C_{IJ}(u_0)] = \frac{f(u_0)^2}{4} \mathcal{L}_Y \check{C}_{IJ} - \frac{1}{2} (1 + f^2(u_0)) \left(\frac{1}{2}D \cdot Y(uN_{IJ} - C_{IJ}) + \mathcal{L}_Y C_{IJ}\right).$$
(3.3)

The above equation shows that the shear tensor has a regulator-dependent transformation: for |u| < R it transforms as the unregulated shear but near the boundaries it transforms differently. This is interesting but not surprising because the regulator removes some of the degrees of freedom that, although not relevant away from boundaries, do change the largetime behavior of the fields. An important quantity that we introduced in eq. (3.2) is $\check{C}_{IJ} \equiv$ $C_{IJ}(\infty)$. For reasons that we are going to explain later we call \check{C}_{IJ} the "memory." This quantity is different from the soft charge. The memory is physical and we should be able to measure it in a physical experiment in a finite amount of time, while the measurement of the soft charge takes an infinite amount of time [16]. The memory transforms as

$$[Q_Y, \check{C}_{IJ}] = \frac{1}{4} \Big(D \cdot Y \check{C}_{IJ} - 2\mathcal{L}_Y \check{C}_{IJ} \Big).$$
(3.4)

Now the commutator of the charges Q is

$$[Q_X, Q_Y] = Q_{[X,Y]} + \frac{1}{256\pi G} D_A[X,Y]^A \check{C}^2.$$
(3.5)

The last term is a central term and can be eliminated by redefining the charge

$$Q'_X = Q_X + \frac{1}{128\pi G} \int_{\mathcal{I}^+_-} d^2 x \sqrt{q} D \cdot X \check{C}^2.$$
(3.6)

¹From now on we shall leave the integration on the celestial sphere implicit when this simplification can be done unambiguously. In particular in formulas that depend on a vector defined on S^2 , we write $\int du = \int du \int_{S^2} d^2x$. We also define $N^2 \equiv N_{AB}N^{AB}$.

The new charge Q'_X satisfies the Lorentz algebra. To avoid clutter we drop the prime sign and from now on call this charge Q_X . The final form of the charge is

$$Q_Y = -\frac{D \cdot Y}{128\pi G} \check{C}^2 + \frac{1}{32\pi G} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} du \left(D \cdot Y \frac{u}{2} N^2 + N^{BC} \mathcal{L}_Y C_{BC} \right),$$
(3.7)

To summarize we have a found a representation of the Lorentz algebra that commutes with both the boundary graviton and the soft charge. This charge is not however what we want because it does not commute with the supertranslation charge. The way we solve this problem is to use a dressing operator similar to that defined in [4, 8]. The dressing operator is a unitary operator U that acts as a supertranslation on the news tensor and also commutes with the boundary graviton,

$$UN_{IJ}(u)U^{\dagger} = N_{IJ}(u-C),$$
 (3.8)

$$UCU^{\dagger} = C. \tag{3.9}$$

These two properties plus the fact that the news tensor commutes with the soft charge are enough to show that the dressed soft charge is actually the supertranslation charge. This also gives an unambiguous definition of the supertranslation operator

$$Q_{\text{total}} \equiv U Q_{\text{soft}} U^{\dagger}. \tag{3.10}$$

Moreover, the dressing operator gives us a natural way to separate soft degrees of freedom from hard degrees of freedom. It is easy to see that for any operator A that commutes with the soft charge the corresponding dressed operator commutes with the total charge

$$[\tilde{A}, Q_{\text{total}}] = [UAU^{\dagger}, Q_{\text{total}}] = U[A, Q_{\text{soft}}]U^{\dagger} = 0.$$
(3.11)

Then to make the hard degrees of freedom invariant (commuting with the boundary graviton and its charge) we dress all the hard degrees of freedom. The next question is how to construct this operator. To that end we first find the infinitesimal form of the dressing operator and then we exponentiate it to get the dressing operator,

$$[H, N_{IJ}] = 16\pi G \partial_u N_{IJ}, \qquad (3.12)$$

The solution of this equation can be easily found and the dressing operator that does satisfy eqs. (3.8), (3.9) and (3.10) is a regularized version of the operator found in [4]

$$U = e^{-\frac{1}{16\pi G} \int du C N^{+2} (f^2 - \frac{1}{2})}.$$
(3.13)

This construction highlights the relation between the total charge and the soft charge. This definition of the total charge can be extended to any physical system that has soft degrees of freedom. The explicit form of the dressing operator allows us to obtain the explicit form of the total charge as

$$Q_{\text{total}}[h] = Q_{\text{soft}}[h] - i \int du N^{+2} \left(f^2 - \frac{1}{2} \right) [C, Q_{\text{soft}}[h]].$$
(3.14)

Now we can calculate the commutator of the total charge with the elementary fields. First we note that

$$\left[\int du N^{+2} (f^2 - 1)h, N^{IJ}(u_0)\right] = 0, \qquad (3.15)$$

then the commutators we are looking for are

$$[Q_{\text{total}}[h], N_{IJ}(u_0)] = -h\partial_{u_0}N_{IJ} + hN_{IJ}\partial_{u_0}f(u_0), \qquad (3.16)$$

$$[Q_{\text{total}}[h], C_{IJ}(u_0)] = -hN_{IJ}.$$
(3.17)

Eq. (3.17) is the integral over retarded time of eq. (3.16). Now the mass aspect transforms as

$$[Q_{\text{total}}[h], M(u)] = -h\partial_u M - \frac{1}{4}N_{IJ}D^I D^J h - \frac{1}{2}D^I N_{IJ}D^J h.$$
(3.18)

The angular momentum aspect also transforms under the total charge as

$$[Q_{\text{total}}[h], N_A(-\infty)] = -\left[D_A \left(hM - \frac{1}{2}C_{IJ}D^I D^J h - \frac{1}{2}D^I C_{IJ}D^J h\right) - D_I (C^{IJ}F_{AJ} - C_{JA}F_{IJ}) + C^{IJ} D_A F_{IJ} + 2\left(M + \frac{1}{4}D_I D_J C^{IJ}\right) D_A h\right].$$
(3.19)

The next step is to dress the charges (3.7); this gives the dressed charge \tilde{Q}_Y in the form

$$\tilde{Q}_Y = Q_Y + \frac{1}{64\pi G} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} du N^2 \Big(D \cdot YC - 2Y^A D_A C \Big).$$
(3.20)

The effect of the dressing is the appearance of the last term in (3.20), which can be simplified further if we use the equation of motion for the mass aspect,

$$\tilde{Q}_Y = Q_Y + \frac{1}{8\pi G} \int_{\mathcal{I}^+_{-}} d^2 x \sqrt{q} \left(m(-\infty) + \frac{1}{4} D_C D_B \check{C}_{BC} \right) \left(D \cdot YC - 2Y^A D_A C \right).$$
(3.21)

We are now ready to write the 2D expression for the charge by a straightforward application of the equation of motion for the angular momentum aspect in conjunction with the identity $D_A D_B D_C Y^C = -q_{BC} D_C Y^C$ and the fact that shear tensor is traceless.

$$Q_Y = \frac{1}{8\pi G} \lim_{u \to -\infty} \int_{S^2} d^2 x \sqrt{q} Y^A (N_A(u) - u D_A m(u)).$$
(3.22)

However it should be noted that the shear tensor used in the equation of motion to arrive at eq. (3.22) is, as mentioned before, different from the conventional definition since $C_{AB}(-\infty) = 0$. To restore the degrees of freedom of the shear tensor at \mathcal{I}_{-}^{+} we have to replace the shear tensor $C_{AB}(u)$ by $C_{AB}(u) + C_{AB}^{0}$. Luckily, this tensor does not enter explicitly in the 2D expression of the charge so now we have all the ingredients to write the formal expression for the dressed

$$Q_{Y} = \frac{1}{8\pi G} \lim_{u \to -\infty} \int_{S^{2}} d^{2}x \sqrt{q} Y^{A} (N_{A}(u) - D_{A}((u+C)m(u))) - \frac{1}{4\pi G} \int_{S^{2}} d^{2}x \sqrt{q}m(-\infty) Y^{A} D_{A} C + \frac{1}{32\pi G} \int_{S^{2}} D_{A} C \ D \cdot Y D_{C} \check{C}_{AC} + \frac{1}{64\pi G} \int_{S^{2}} D \cdot Y D_{B} D_{C} \check{C}_{BC} C.$$
(3.23)

It is important to note that this charge does not commute with Q_{soft} anymore, in other words it is not invariant under a shift in C, but this is something that we already have expected because it is the undressed charge that commute with both Q_{soft} and C, after dressing the charge will commute with Q_{total} and C. As noted before, the dressed charge (3.23) commutes with the supertranslation charge by construction but it is less obvious from (3.23); however, a straightforward but tedious calculation shows that (3.23) is indeed invariant and commutes with supertranslation charge.

3.1 Regulating the charge in the frequency domain

Another way of dealing with the soft mode is by imposing an IR cutoff in the frequency domain. We start with the expression for the charge in the frequency domain, to fix our notations

$$\tilde{N}_{IJ}^{+}(\omega) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} du e^{-i\omega u} N_{IJ}^{+}(u), \qquad (3.24)$$

$$N_{IJ}^{+}(u) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\omega e^{i\omega u} \tilde{N}_{IJ}^{+}(\omega).$$
(3.25)

Using the convolution theorem we relate $\tilde{C}^+(\omega)$ to $\tilde{N}^+(\omega)$,

$$\tilde{C}_{IJ}^{+}(\omega) = \frac{\tilde{N}_{IJ}^{+}(\omega)}{i\omega} + \pi \tilde{N}_{IJ}^{+}(0)\delta(\omega).$$
(3.26)

Now we can write the undressed charge in the frequency domain as

$$Q_Y = \frac{i}{32\pi^2 G} \int_0^\infty d\omega \left(\frac{D \cdot Y}{2} \tilde{N}_{IJ}^+(-\omega) \partial \omega \tilde{N}^{+IJ}(\omega) - \frac{1}{\omega} \tilde{N}^{+IJ}(-\omega) \mathcal{L}_Y \tilde{N}_{IJ}^+(\omega) \right)$$
(3.27)

$$+\frac{i}{64\pi^2 G}\int_0^\infty d\omega \frac{D\cdot Y}{\omega}\tilde{N}^{+IJ}(-\omega)\tilde{N}^+_{IJ}(\omega) + \frac{1}{144\pi G}\int_{-\infty}^\infty d\omega \delta(\omega)\tilde{N}^{+2}(0)D\cdot Y.$$

This charge can be regulated by limiting the integral to the range (ϵ, ∞) instead of $(0, \infty)$ so that ϵ is the IR cut-off of the theory. The regulated charge is

$$Q_Y^{\epsilon} = \frac{i}{32\pi^2 G} \int_{\epsilon}^{\infty} d\omega \left(\frac{D \cdot Y}{2} \tilde{N}_{IJ}^+(-\omega) \partial \omega \tilde{N}^{+IJ}(\omega) - \frac{1}{\omega} \tilde{N}^{+IJ}(-\omega) \mathcal{L}_Y \tilde{N}_{IJ}^+(\omega) \right) + \frac{i}{64\pi^2 G} \int_{\epsilon}^{\infty} d\omega \frac{D \cdot Y}{\omega} \tilde{N}^{+IJ}(-\omega) \tilde{N}_{IJ}^+(\omega).$$
(3.28)

At this point one might ask about the relation between this charge and the undressed charge we derived previously by using a regulating function, the answer is that (3.28) and (3.7) are the same in the limit $\epsilon \to 0$, $R \to \infty$ and hence the two regulating scheme produce the same charge. This should not be surprising at all because the undressed charge when written in terms of elementary fields does not contain the soft charge or its conjugate and is made of only hard degrees of freedom and is unique.

The commutator of the radiative degrees of freedom is

$$[\tilde{N}_{IJ}^{+}(\omega), \tilde{N}_{BC}^{+}(\omega')] = 32\pi^{2}iGP_{CD}^{AB}\omega\delta(\omega+\omega').$$
(3.29)

Now the news tensor transforms as (assuming $|\omega'| > \epsilon$),

$$[Q_Y^{\epsilon}, \tilde{N}_{BC}^+(\omega')] = \frac{D \cdot Y}{2} \partial_{\omega'}(\omega' \tilde{N}_{BC}^+(\omega')) - \mathcal{L}_Y \tilde{N}_{BC}^+(\omega').$$
(3.30)

Finally, it is straightforward to check that the algebra of the regulated charge is

$$[Q_Y, Q_{Y'}] = Q_{[Y, Y']}.$$
(3.31)

This shows that the algebra of the regulated charges is precisely the Lorentz algebra, without any central terms. The action of the dressing operator on the news tensor in the frequency space is very simple and is given by

$$U\tilde{N}_{II}^{+}(\omega)U^{\dagger} = e^{-i\omega C}\tilde{N}_{II}^{+}(\omega).$$
(3.32)

One can proceed from this point and find the expression for the dressed charge in the frequency space. We leave this relatively straightforward computation as an exercise for the interested reader.

3.2 Poincaré algebra

What we have achieved so far is to make the charge invariant under supertranslations, but we have to remember that we only want to have invariance under proper supertranslations and not ordinary translations. The four translations of the Poincaré group, translation in time and translation in spatial directions correspond respectively to the l = 0 and l = 1modes of the boundary graviton C. It is easy to find a charge that commutes only with l > 1 supertranslations by repeating the procedure used before. The expression for the charge is now

$$Q_{Y} = \frac{1}{8\pi G} \lim_{u \to -\infty} \int_{S^{2}} d^{2}x \sqrt{q} Y^{A} (N_{A}(u) - D_{A}((u+C|_{l>1})m(u))) - \frac{1}{4\pi G} \int_{S^{2}} d^{2}x \sqrt{q}m(-\infty) Y^{A} D_{A} C|_{l>1} + \frac{1}{32\pi G} \int_{S^{2}} D_{A} C|_{l>1} D \cdot Y D_{C} \check{C}_{AC} + \frac{1}{64\pi G} \int_{S^{2}} D \cdot Y D_{B} D_{C} \check{C}_{BC} C|_{l>1},$$
(3.33)

As it has been pointed out e.g. in [9] the charge is a function of the non-local function $C|_{l>1}$. This is the only price that we have to pay for the invariance of the charge. Then the Poincaré algebra generated by Q_Y in (3.33) and $Q_{\text{total}}[h|_{l=0,1}]$ will be the Poincaré algebra and it will commute with proper l > 1 supertranslations. This means that the asymptotic symmetry algebra is the direct sum of the Poincaré group and proper supertranslations. We stress here that this asymptotic symmetry group is different from BMS and is already different at the level of algebra.

This is a good place to discuss the difference between charges corresponding to boosts and rotations. For the rotation generators we have $D \cdot Y = 0$ and therefore the last two terms in eq. (3.33) vanish. For boosts, however, $D \cdot Y \neq 0$ so we need to evaluate the last two terms. The hardest part is the evaluation of \check{C}_{AC} because it requires information on the news tensor for $u \in [-R, R]$. Since usually we don't have access to that information we cannot evaluate the boost charge in general. Recall that we are looking at the configurations that revert back to the vacuum at \mathcal{I}_{-}^{+} . Since these are evaporating black holes, the evaluation of \check{C}_{AC} requires details that are not known without additional information besides the initial and final spacetime metrics at \mathcal{I}_{\pm}^{+} .

4 Evaluation of the charge on some known configurations

So far we found a prescription for constructing unambiguously defined conserved charges of asymptotically flat spacetime. In gravity it means in particular that the angular momentum is well-defined and commutes with supertranslations. The goal of this section is to evaluate our charges on some known physical configurations and show that the results coincide with our intuition and expectations. The two example that we study are the Minkowski vacuum and the Kerr black hole.

4.1 Invariance of the charge under the addition of soft radiation

We start by studying the dressed Lorentz charge for a configuration made by adding soft radiation to Minkowski space. The setup that we are going to consider is a uniform outgoing radiation flux in an interval of length L. We also keep $N_{AB}L$ constant, so if we change $L N_{AB}L$ will not change. It is important to know what defines a soft radiation mode in this case. The answer is easy however, since we already have an IR cutoff defined by the regulating function. Any mode with wavelength smaller than R will be called "hard," therefore the soft regime is defined by $L \gg R$ and in this limit the charge decays as $\frac{R^2}{L^2}$, which is expected since our Lorentz charges are independent of the soft degrees of freedom by construction. This example shows the difference between the soft charge, which is $N_{AB}L$, and the memory

$$\check{C}_{AB} = \frac{R}{L} N_{AB} L. \tag{4.1}$$

The soft charge is defined in the limit $L \gg R$, and in this limit the soft charge is $\mathcal{O}(1)$ while the memory decays as $\frac{R}{L}$. Therefore, the news tensor is not a hard degree of freedom in the limit $L = \infty$. This example shows how the IR cutoff separates soft and hard degrees of freedom. One can also explicitly check that all the Lorentz charges are proportional to $\mathcal{O}(\frac{R}{L})$ and therefore vanish in the limit $L \to \infty$. This is a corollary of the invariance of the Lorentz charges under supertranslations.

4.2 Boosted Kerr solution

Now we look at the charges for the boosted Kerr solution. Our setup is as follows: in the past of future null infinity \mathcal{I}^+ , the metric is the same as boosted Kerr with angular momentum aspect [9]

$$N_{A} = -\frac{3J\sin^{2}\theta'\partial_{A}\phi'}{\gamma^{2}(1-\vec{v}.\vec{n})^{2}} + 3m\partial_{A}C + (u+C)\partial_{A}m - \frac{3}{32}\partial_{A}(\hat{C}_{BC}\hat{C}^{BC}) - \frac{1}{4}\hat{C}_{AB}D_{C}\hat{C}^{CB}, \quad (4.2)$$

while in the future of \mathcal{I}^+ the metric is same as supertranslated Minkowski. For angular momentum $D \cdot Y = 0$, so the charge can be evaluated only with the information of the

metric at \mathcal{I}_{-}^{+} . The last term in eq. (4.2) makes it unclear if eq. (3.23) coincides with the angular momentum of the Kerr black hole, because its integral is not generically zero, but on \mathcal{I}_{-}^{+} it is actually zero, because on that surface we have

$$\hat{C}_{AB}(-\infty) = C^0_{AB} = (-2D_A D_B + q_{AB}\Delta)C, \qquad (4.3)$$

and consequently the resulting term in the charge is

$$\frac{1}{2} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} du D \cdot Y(\Delta C + 2C)^2, \qquad (4.4)$$

which vanishes for angular momentum generators. The angular momentum Q_Y is defined by the vector fields Y^A on the celestial sphere whose algebra is so(3), explicitly

$$Q_Y = Q_Y^{\text{intrinsic}} + Q_Y^{\text{cm}} = \frac{1}{8\pi} \int_{S^2} Y^A \left(-\frac{3J\sin^2\theta' \partial_A \phi'}{\gamma^2 (1 - \vec{v}.\vec{n})^2} + J_A^{\text{cm}} \right),$$
(4.5)

where $J_A^{\rm cm}$ and $Q_Y^{\rm cm}$ are the center of mass angular momentum aspect and the center of mass angular momentum. The orbital part $Q_Y^{\rm cm}$ can be set to zero by a suitable choice of coordinates but for generality we kept it.

5 Comparison with known prescriptions

Since many notations are being used in the literature it is important to understand the difference between them. The metric and the angular momentum aspect we are using in this paper are the same as in ref. [3], while they differ from those given in [9] (see also [18] and [12]). The relation between the two notations is (N_A denotes the angular momentum aspect in this paper)

$$\bar{N}_A = N_A + \frac{1}{4}\hat{C}_{AB}D_C\hat{C}^{CB} + \frac{3}{32}\partial_A(\hat{C}_{BC}\hat{C}^{BC}).$$
(5.1)

The prescription for the charge is not unique since it has ambiguities. Specifically, any total derivative can be added to the angular momentum without changing it, so we have a two parameter family of charges $Q^{(\alpha,\beta)}$ and every prescription in the literature correspond to a specific pair of (α, β) , as mentioned in [9]

$$Q_Y^{(\alpha,\beta)\text{rotation}} = \frac{1}{8\pi G} \int_{\mathcal{I}^+_-} d^2 x \sqrt{q} Y^A \left(N_A - \frac{\alpha}{4} \hat{C}_{AB} D_C \hat{C}^{CB} \right), \tag{5.2}$$

$$Q_Y^{(\alpha,\beta)\text{boost}} = \frac{1}{8\pi G} \int_{\mathcal{I}_{-}^+} d^2 x \sqrt{q} Y^A \left(N_A - \frac{\alpha}{4} \hat{C}_{AB} D_C \hat{C}^{CB} - \frac{\beta}{16} \partial_A (\hat{C}_{BC} \hat{C}^{BC}) \right).$$
(5.3)

The last term in eq. (5.1) is exactly a total derivative and the term just before it is also a total derivative on \mathcal{I}^+_- (which is the point where we evaluate the charges). This means that all of the different prescriptions give the same angular momentum if the charge is defined on \mathcal{I}^+_- . Despite having the same angular momentum they give different boost charges and this can give rise to a central term in the Lorentz algebra. The requirement of having zero

central term fixes the remaining ambiguity and in fact a careful selection of the parameters (α, β) that gives zero central extension is that which we made in (3.33).

We can show that the invariant charge (3.23) can be written as

$$Q_Y = B_Y(u)|_{u \to -\infty} - B_Y(u)|_{u \to \infty}, \tag{5.4}$$

where the quantity $B_Y(u)$ is not invariant under supertranslation and is defined as

$$B_Y(u) \equiv \frac{1}{8\pi G} \int_{S^2} d^2 x \sqrt{q} Y^A \left(N_A(u) - D_A((u+C|_{l>1})m(u)) + \frac{1}{32} D_A(\hat{C}_{IJ}(u)\hat{C}^{IJ}(u)) \right) - \frac{1}{4\pi G} \int_{S^2} d^2 x \sqrt{q} m(u) Y^A D_A C|_{l>1},$$
(5.5)

When written in this form it is easy to see that in the case of rotations the invariant charge Q_Y coincides with the invariant charge in [9, 11, 12]. For boosts, Q_Y reproduces the invariant center of mass formula of [10, 12] when the Bondi news vanishes. The advantage of Q_Y is that we derived it by going through our universal procedure, which we can call in short "remove boundary gravitons and dress." This procedure works in principle for any observable.

6 Discussion

Now we can use our results to compare the soft charge to the memory. The soft charge is made from the original news tensor by integrating over \mathcal{I}^+ and it commutes with the undressed charge, explicitly

$$[Q_Y^{\text{undressed}}, Q_{\text{soft}}] = 0. \tag{6.1}$$

This means that if we expand the undressed charge in terms of the elementary fields, the undressed charge does not contain the boundary graviton C. Moreover, the presence of the regulator removes any dependence on Q_{soft} . The memory $D_A D_B \check{C}^{AB}$ does not commute with the charge. The commutator of the memory with the charge is

$$[B_Y, \check{C}_{IJ}] = \frac{1}{8} \Big(D \cdot Y \check{C}_{IJ} - 2\mathcal{L}_Y \check{C}_{IJ} \Big).$$
(6.2)

This is an interesting result because the memory is the regulated version of the soft charge and after taking the limit the expression for both looks the same, however they are different as operators. The memory is physical and observable. It contains only modes with energy larger than $\frac{1}{R}$, while the soft charge contains all the soft modes as well. To highlight this difference consider the following commutators

$$[Q_{\text{soft}} - D_A D_B \dot{C}^{AB}, C] \neq 0, \tag{6.3}$$

$$[Q_{\text{soft}} - D_A D_B \check{C}^{AB}, Q_Y] \neq 0.$$
(6.4)

In these examples the r.h.s. is nonzero even after taking the limit $R \to \infty$, so the l.h.s. cannot vanish.

Acknowledgments

R.J. and M.P. are supported in part by NSF grant PHY-1915219.

Open Access. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

References

- H. Bondi, M.G.J. van der Burg and A.W.K. Metzner, Gravitational waves in general relativity. 7. Waves from axisymmetric isolated systems, Proc. Roy. Soc. Lond. A 269 (1962) 21 [INSPIRE].
- [2] R.K. Sachs, Gravitational waves in general relativity. 8. Waves in asymptotically flat space-times, Proc. Roy. Soc. Lond. A 270 (1962) 103 [INSPIRE].
- [3] G. Barnich and C. Troessaert, Supertranslations call for superrotations, PoS CNCFG2010 (2010) 010 [Ann. U. Craiova Phys. 21 (2011) S11] [arXiv:1102.4632] [INSPIRE].
- [4] R. Bousso and M. Porrati, Soft hair as a soft wig, Class. Quant. Grav. 34 (2017) 204001
 [arXiv:1706.00436] [INSPIRE].
- [5] A. Strominger, On BMS invariance of gravitational scattering, JHEP 07 (2014) 152 [arXiv:1312.2229] [INSPIRE].
- [6] M. Porrati, Charges in the extended BMS algebra: definitions and applications, SciPost Phys. Proc. 4 (2021) 005 [arXiv:2010.12151] [INSPIRE].
- [7] P.-N. Chen, L.-H. Huang, M.-T. Wang and S.-T. Yau, On the validity of the definition of angular momentum in general relativity, Annales Henri Poincaré 17 (2016) 253
 [arXiv:1401.0597] [INSPIRE].
- [8] R. Javadinezhad, U. Kol and M. Porrati, Comments on Lorentz transformations, dressed asymptotic states and Hawking radiation, JHEP 01 (2019) 089 [arXiv:1808.02987]
 [INSPIRE].
- [9] G. Compère, R. Oliveri and A. Seraj, *The Poincaré and BMS flux-balance laws with application to binary systems*, *JHEP* **10** (2020) 116 [arXiv:1912.03164] [INSPIRE].
- [10] J. Keller, Y.-K. Wang and S.-T. Yau, Evaluating quasi-local angular momentum and center-of-mass at null infinity, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 24 (2020) 1423 [arXiv:1811.02383]
 [INSPIRE].
- P.-N. Chen, M.-T. Wang, Y.-K. Wang and S.-T. Yau, Supertranslation invariance of angular momentum, arXiv:2102.03235 [INSPIRE].
- [12] P.-N. Chen, M.-T. Wang, Y.-K. Wang and S.-T. Yau, BMS charges without supertranslation ambiguity, arXiv:2107.05316 [INSPIRE].
- P.-N. Chen, M.-T. Wang and S.-T. Yau, Conserved quantities in general relativity: from the quasi-local level to spatial infinity, Commun. Math. Phys. 338 (2015) 31 [arXiv:1312.0985]
 [INSPIRE].
- [14] P.-N. Chen, M.-T. Wang and S.-T. Yau, Quasilocal angular momentum and center of mass in general relativity, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 20 (2016) 671 [arXiv:1312.0990] [INSPIRE].
- [15] A. Strominger, On BMS invariance of gravitational scattering, JHEP 07 (2014) 152
 [arXiv:1312.2229] [INSPIRE].
- [16] R. Bousso and M. Porrati, Observable supertranslations, Phys. Rev. D 96 (2017) 086016
 [arXiv:1706.09280] [INSPIRE].

JHEP04 (2022)069

- [17] A. Strominger, Lectures on the infrared structure of gravity and gauge theory, arXiv:1703.05448 [INSPIRE].
- [18] É.É. Flanagan and D.A. Nichols, Conserved charges of the extended Bondi-Metzner-Sachs algebra, Phys. Rev. D 95 (2017) 044002 [arXiv:1510.03386] [INSPIRE].